**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 04 2026**  
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

FRANCISCO CORTES,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-002210

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in admitting four recorded jail calls and one jail video chat between Appellant and his girlfriend?
  
2. Did the trial judge err in admitting videos, pursuant to Rule 613(b), SCRE, from an officer's body camera that recorded the interview of Appellant's girlfriend while she was in the hospital waiting to be treated for a gunshot wound when at trial the State failed to first advise the girlfriend of the substance of the statements she made during the interview?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2023, the Beaufort County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Francisco Cortes, for two counts of attempted murder, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature [ABHAN], discharging a firearm into a dwelling, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2022-GS-07-00756 – 760, #2023-GS-07-01862. (R. p. 358-369). On December 16, 2024, Appellant proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Kristi F. Curtis. Courtney Gibbes and Taylor Diggs represented Appellant. Samantha Molina and Rachel DeAngelis prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Judge Curtis sentenced Appellant to twenty-two (22) years for one count of attempted murder, twenty (20) years concurrent for the other count of attempted murder, ten (10) years concurrent for ABHAN, and five (5) years concurrent for each of the weapons charges. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on December 20, 2024. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 5, 2021, the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office received 911 calls about shots fired at The Oaks Apartments on Hilton Head Island. The 911 calls were admitted in evidence without objection as State's exhibits #1, and #2. (R. p. 99, lines 3-11). One of the 911 calls was from a neighbor. The other 911 call was from Olivia Erskine who reported that Appellant accidentally shot her. When officers arrived at The Oaks they found Olivia had been shot in the wrist. The video from the officer's body cam was admitted in evidence without objection as State's exhibit #30. (R. p. 171, lines 1-17). Olivia again told officers that Appellant accidentally shot her.

Sergeant Scheemaker with the Beaufort County Sheriff's office testified that he went to apartment #4 at the Oaks where he saw a Hispanic man standing near the front door. (R. p. 121, line 23 – p. 122, lines 1-7). The Hispanic male was detained. The officer testified that a male and a female who only spoke Chinese also came out of the apartment. (R. p. 122, line 10 – p. 123, lines 1-3). Once inside the apartment the officer found another individual who had been shot in the leg. (R. p. 122, lines 13-17).

Olivia testified at trial that she did not remember much from the night she was shot. (R. p. 110, lines 10-22). She remembered that the other guy had a knife and locked the door so she could not get out. (R. p. 114, lines 4-10). Olivia agreed that she told the investigator who interviewed her at the hospital that the other guy had a knife. (R. p. 115, lines 3-6). She admitted that earlier she told a defense investigator that Appellant was trying to help her get out because they guy was being confrontational and had a knife. (R. p. 114, line 11 – p. 115, lines 1-25). Olivia agreed that she was in contact with Appellant wanting help to get out of the house because she was scared, and the man was threatening. (R. p. 115, line 16 – p. 116, lines 1-11).

She testified that the other man became aggressive, grabbed a knife, and would not let her leave. (R. p. 116, lines 19-24).

The Hispanic male who Sergeant Scheemaker detained, Faquin Hernandez Cruz, testified at trial with an interpreter. (R. p. 158, line 15 – p. 159, lines 1-2). Cruz testified that on July 5, 2021, he was living at The Oaks with an Asian couple and Mr. Jack. (R. p. 159, lines 6-15). According to Cruz he arranged with a person on Facebook to bring a female to the apartment to have sex. (R. p. 161, lines 1-25). Cruz testified that a workmate brought the female to the apartment. (R. p. 161. Lines 8-11). According to Cruz he and the female had a disagreement over money, she made a phone call, and then there was a knock on the front door. (R. p. 162, lines 4-10). Cruz testified that when he opened the door, he saw a man with a gun so he closed and locked the door. (R. p. 162, lines 10-12). Cruz claimed shots were fired at this point and he ran into another room. (R. p. 162, lines 13-15). Cruz did not remember picking up a knife. (R. p. 163, lines 14-16). According to Cruz the female left when the shots stopped but she was shot as she was leaving. (R. p. 162, lines 16-22).

The individual Sergeant Scheemaker found who had been shot in the leg, Yao Ming Zhang, testified at trial with an interpreter. (R. p. 153, lines 2-23). Zhang testified that his English name was Jack. (R. p. 153, lines 17-18). Zhang was asleep in his room when he heard a male and a female screaming and then he heard gunfire. (R. p. 155, lines 3-19). Zhang testified he was shot in the knee. (R. p. 155, lines 22-25).

Sergeant Zach Cushman, an investigator with the Beaufort County Sheriff's Office, testified he went to Savannah Memorial Health to interview Olivia and Zhang. (R. p. 182, line 8 – p. 183, lines 1-14). The bodycam video of two parts of his interview with Olivia were admitted over objection as State's exhibits #31, #32. (R. p. 184, lines 12-24). Counsel for

Appellant asked that the State be required to admit the third part of the interview pursuant to Rule 106, SCRE. (R. p. 177, line 20 – pp. 178 – 181, lines 1-3). The judge declined to require the State to admit the third part of the interview. (R. p. 181, lines 4-9). The Defense did not move to have it admitted. The admitted two parts of the interview were played for the jury. (R. p. 184, lines 3-24).

Lieutenant Edwin Aiken from the Beaufort County Detention Center testified that all calls and video chats from the detention center were recorded unless privileged. (R. p. 263, lines 1-18). Four phone calls and one video visit between Appellant and Olivia were admitted in evidence as State's exhibits #92-#96. (R. p. 263, line 22 – p. 264, lines 1-14). The calls and video visit were played for the jury. (R. p. 265, line 1 – p. 266, lines 1-11).

## ARGUMENTS

### **1. The trial judge erred in admitting four recorded jail calls and one jail video visit between Appellant and his girlfriend.**

#### **Standard of Review**

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

#### **Discussion**

Prior to trial counsel for Appellant moved to exclude the four recorded jail phone calls and one recorded video visit between Appellant and his girlfriend, Olivia Erskine. (R. pp. 74 – 85). In support counsel submitted a written motion with attachments. (R. p. 347-357). In the motion counsel cited to the South Carolina Constitution Article 1, section 10, as well as the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. Counsel additionally cited State v. Ellefson, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666 (1976). Counsel argued that the calls were accessed by the Solicitor’s Office the week before trial. (R. p. 75, lines 15-24). The judge withheld her ruling until she had the opportunity to review the calls and review the Ellefson case. (R. p. 85. Lines 5-8).

Later in trial, after the judge reviewed the jail calls, she ruled the jail calls admissible with redactions. (R. p. 142, lines 9-18). Counsel argued the redacted calls should be excluded because any probative value was outweighed by the prejudice, noting Rules 402, 403, 404, SCRE. (R. p. 144, line 15 – p. 145, lines 1-19). Counsel attempted to limit the portions of the

jail calls admitted to those calls that were related to the case. (R. p. 145, lines 12-19; p. 147, line 12 – p. 148, lines 1-21). Counsel argued, “You know, I don’t think I have an argument against with what he’s telling her to say, her testimony or anything to do with the case. But I think everything else is extremely prejudicial and outweighs any probative value. I think it gets into character evidence.” (R. p. 145, lines 3-7). Counsel specifically argued that nothing in the video visit should be admitted. (R. p. 145, lines 7-19). Counsel additionally argued “. . . there are some hearsay implications. . .” (R. p. 147, line 24).

The judge ruled stating, “I think where he talks about ‘don’t talk about it on here, I’ll call you in a few minutes on a different account,’ that is admissible. The stuff about how he is going to impregnate her when he gets out, that is admissible. The stuff about the tattoo. I’m excluding the stuff about allowing her to hook up with other guys to get money. I think that’s highly prejudicial and has very little probative value in this case.” (R. p. 150, lines 4-12). Counsel renewed the objection to the jail calls when the State moved to admit all five redacted phone calls. (R. p. 264, lines 8-10). The objection was noted and the phone calls, marked State’s exhibits #92-96, were published for the jury. (R. p. 264, line 11 – p. 265, 266, lines 1-11). State’s #94 is the video visit. (R. p. 265, lines 14-15).

The trial judge erred in admitting the jail phone calls and video visit. The jail calls and video visit should have been excluded as violative of Appellant’s constitutional protections against unreasonable search and seizure and invasion of privacy. U.S. Const. amend. IV.; S.C. Const. art. 1 § 10. The monitoring of the calls additionally infringed on Appellant’s First Amendment rights. Alternatively, the calls and video visit should have been further redacted to exclude hearsay and those portions where the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE.

## **Fourth Amendment under State and Federal Law**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, ...” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Constitution also prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures and additionally includes an express protection of the right to privacy. “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and **unreasonable invasions of privacy** shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, the person or thing to be seized, and the information to be obtained.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (emphasis added).

In State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643–44, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because “[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.” State v. Easler, 327 S.C. 121, 131 n. 13, 489 S.E.2d 617, 625 n. 13 (1997); see also State v. Austin, 306 S.C. 9, 409 S.E.2d 811 (Ct.App.1991). Therefore, state courts can develop state law to provide their citizens with a second layer of constitutional rights. Id. This relationship is often described as a recognition that the federal Constitution sets the floor for individual rights while the state constitution establishes the ceiling. See Segura v. Texas, 826 S.W.2d 178, 182 (Tex.App.1992). Thus, this Court can interpret the state protection against unreasonable searches and seizures in such a way as to provide greater protection than the federal Constitution.

In State v. Ellefson, 266 S.C. 494, 224 S.E.2d 666, (1976), the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the conviction finding the admission of incriminating letters written by a pre-trial detainee and obtained by a detective not affiliated with the jail should have been excluded as a product of an illegal search and seizure. In Ellefson, the Court wrote:

When a pretrial detainee remains in custody, he is not disrobed of his constitutional rights and laid bare for the zealous investigation of his case. He is cloaked with the presumption of innocence. His rights are curtailed only to the extent ‘justified by the considerations underlying our penal system.’ Price v. Johnston, 334 U.S. 266, 285, 68 S.Ct. 1049, 1060, 92 L.Ed. 1356 (1948). Even a convicted prisoner does not shed basic constitutional rights at the prison gate. Rather, he ‘retains all the rights of an ordinary citizen except those expressly, or by necessary implication, taken from him by law.’ Coffin v. Reichard, 143 F.2d 443, 445 (6th Cir. 1944), Procunier v. Martinez, supra, Marshall concurring page 1816.

266 S.C. at 500, 224 S.E.2d at 669.

The jail calls and video visit in the present case are analogous to the letters in Ellefson. While federal courts have found no expectation of privacy in jail calls,<sup>1</sup> this Court should find that Appellant had, at least, a diminished but reasonable expectation of privacy in the jail calls and video visit at issue based on the heightened protection of privacy found in the South Carolina Constitution and the holding in Ellefson. Detention centers can have a legitimate interest in monitoring detainee phone calls for security purposes. This interest, however, should not extend to prosecutors conducting a fishing expedition of a defendant’s phone calls, a week prior to trial, in the hopes of finding incriminating evidence. The search of the calls by the prosecutor in this case, without prior approval by a judge, was per se unreasonable. See Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 454–55, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 2032, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971), holding modified by Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 110 S. Ct. 2301, 110 L. Ed. 2d 112 (1990) (“Thus the most basic constitutional rule in this area is that ‘searches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well delineated

---

<sup>1</sup> United States v. Van Poyck, 77 F.3d 285, 290–91 (9th Cir. 1996); United States v. Clark, 651 F. Supp. 76, 81 (M.D. Pa. 1986)

exceptions.' The exceptions are 'jealously and carefully drawn,' and there must be 'a showing by those who seek exemption \* \* \* that the exigencies of the situation made that course imperative.' '(T)he burden is on those seeking the exemption to show the need for it.'"). The State failed to show any exception to the warrant requirement, failed to show exigent circumstances, and failed to attempt to show the existence of probable cause to justify the search.

During the pre-trial hearing the prosecutor argued, "It's not under the law enforcement exception, it's under a consent exception. He consents to the recording and monitoring when he makes the phone call." (R. p. 80, lines 1-3). Consent was addressed in Ellefson where the pre-trial detainee signed a card when he was processed into the jail authorizing jail officials to read his mail. The Court wrote:

If the State relies upon the consent to search, it has the burden of proving the voluntariness of the consent. Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 88 S.Ct. 1788, 20 L.Ed.2d 797 (1968). The court thus cannot assume there was consent. People v. Henry, 65 Cal.2d 842, 56 Cal.Rptr. 485, 423 P.2d 557 (1967). For noncustodial searches, the current test is whether or not the consent was voluntary under the totality of the circumstances. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). The skeletal details of the so called 'consent' belie it. If we were to hold the appellant consented to waive his constitutional rights here, the doctrine of consent would be effectively emasculated.

Ellefson, 266 S.C. at 502-03, 224 S.E.2d at 670. (n. 4 omitted).

In each of the four phone calls in the present case, State's exhibits #92, #93, #95, and #96, a recording can be heard stating, "This call will be recorded and is subject to monitoring at any time." The recording can not be heard on State's #94, the video visit, but the State redacted the beginning of that exhibit. (R. p. 143, lines 20 - 25). In United States v. Hammond, 286 F.3d 189 (4th Cir. 2002), the Fourth Circuit addressed a challenge to recordings of telephone calls the FBI obtained from the Bureau of Prison [BOP] by a subpoena as a violation of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968, 18 U.S.C. § 2510 *et seq.* [Title III]. "Specifically,

Hammond argued that in order to listen to the tapes, the FBI was required to obtain a judicial interception order pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 2516 and 2518, which set out procedural requirements and safeguards greater than those involved in obtaining a standard subpoena.” Hammond, 286 F.3d at 191.

The Fourth Circuit disagreed and wrote:

Title III generally prohibits the unauthorized interception of “any wire, oral, or electronic communication.” 18 U.S.C. § 2511(1)(a). It “protects an individual from all forms of wiretapping except when the statute specifically provides otherwise.” Abraham v. County of Greenville, 237 F.3d 386, 389 (4th Cir.2001). Although the argument has been made that Title III was not intended by Congress to apply to prisons, it is well accepted that its protections do apply to that context. See, e.g., United States v. Van Poyck, 77 F.3d 285, 291 (9th Cir.1996); United States v. Feekes, 879 F.2d 1562, 1565 (7th Cir.1989); United States v. Amen, 831 F.2d 373, 378 (2d Cir.1987). Therefore, the tapes were properly used by the FBI only if (1) the initial interception by the BOP was lawful pursuant to an exception to the general injunction prohibiting use of wiretaps, and (2) the FBI's subsequent acquisition/use of the tapes was lawful.

Hammond, 286 F.3d at 192.

In determining if the initial interception by the BOP was lawful, the Hammond court found that both the “law enforcement” exception and the “consent” exception rendered the recording by the BOP lawful. As to consent, the court wrote, “We conclude that the ‘consent’ exception applies to prison inmates, such as Hammond, required to permit monitoring as a condition of using prison telephones, joining other circuits which have found the exception to apply under very similar circumstances. See United States v. Footman, 215 F.3d 145, 154–56 (1st Cir.2000); Van Poyck, 77 F.3d at 292; United States v. Workman, 80 F.3d 688, 693 (2d Cir.1996); United States v. Horr, 963 F.2d 1124, 1126 (8th Cir.1992).” Hammond, 286 F.3d at 192.

The present case is distinguished from Hammond. The challenge in Hammond was based on Title III requiring a judicial interception order pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 2516 and 2518

rather than a subpoena. The consent exception is specifically noted in Title III. “It shall not be unlawful under this chapter for a person acting under color of law to intercept a wire, oral, or electronic communication, where such person is a party to the communication or one of the parties to the communication has given prior consent to such interception.” 18 U.S.C. § 2511(2)(c). The challenge in the present case was not based on Title III. Instead, the challenge in the present case was based, in part, on the Fourth Amendment of the State and Federal Constitutions with the heightened protection of privacy found in the South Carolina Constitution. While consent found in Hammond and other federal cases may be an exception under Title III, consent should not be sufficient to waive Fourth Amendment’s protections against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy under the South Carolina Constitution. See Ellefson.

Waiver of the South Carolina constitutional right against unreasonable invasions of privacy requires more than the consent exception contained in Title III. The recording prior to the jail calls in the present case is not sufficient for consent under the South Carolina Constitution. The recording is not sufficient as a waiver of constitutional rights. “Courts employ a high bar when judging the waiver of constitutional rights. See Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 25 L.Ed.2d 747 (1970) (noting that “[w]aivers of constitutional rights not only must be voluntary but must be knowing, intelligent acts done with sufficient awareness of the relevant circumstances and likely consequences.”).” Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 24, 659 S.E.2d 112, 118 (2008).

## First Amendment

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