**RECEIVED**

**Feb 23 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002210

The State, .....Respondent,

v.

Francisco Cortes,.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 8729  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III  
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880  
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910  
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

error which results in prejudice to the defendant. *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000); *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 377, 580 S.E.2d 785, 793 (Ct. App. 2003). An abuse of discretion occurs when the ruling lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. *Brown*, 401 S.C. at 87, 736 S.E.2d at 265; *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011); *McDonald*, 343 S.C. at 325, 540 S.E.2d at 467. Our courts have consistently held that a trial court’s decision to admit evidence of a witness’s prior inconsistent statement will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Lynn*, 277 S.C. 222, 225, 284 S.E.2d 786, 788 (1981); *State v. Sierra*, 337 S.C. 368, 373, 523 S.E.2d 187, 189 (Ct. App. 1999).

The trial court—when ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence—must think through the objection that has been made, the arguments of the attorneys, and the law—particularly the applicable evidentiary rules—and must thoughtfully apply the correct law to the information and evidence before it. *Wallace*, 440 S.C. at 541-43, 892 S.E.2d at 312-13; *Morris v. BB&T Corp.*, 438 S.C. 582, 587, 885 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2023). If the record reflects the trial court “exercise[ed] its discretion according to law,” the appellate court will almost always affirm the ruling. *Wallace*, 440 S.C. at 543, 892 S.E.2d at 313; *Morris*, 438 S.C. at 585-86, 885 S.E.2d at 396; *see also State v. Gibbs*, 438 S.C. 542, 551-53, 885 S.E.2d 378, 383-84 (2023) (discussing in detail a trial court’s exercise of discretion in ruling on the admissibility of evidence).

## **2. Not Hearsay – Not Offered for the Truth of the Matter Asserted**

Hearsay is a statement, which may be written, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 66, 810 S.E.2d 18, 28 (2017); *State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 351, 751 S.E.2d 645, 659 (2013); Rule 801(c), SCRE. “Hearsay is not admissible unless there is an applicable

exception.” *King*, 422 S.C. at 66, 810 S.E.2d at 28; *Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. at 351, 751 S.E.2d at 659; Rule 802, SCRE. If a statement is relevant and probative *only* to prove the truth of the matter asserted by the out-of-court declarant, then the statement is hearsay, and its admission into evidence is governed by the traditional hearsay rule. *King*, 422 S.C. at 67, 810 S.E.2d at 28 (relying on *Ruiz v. Commonwealth*, 471 S.W.3d 675 (Ky. 2015)). But, as with any other statement, if the out-of-court statement has relevance and probative value that is *not* dependent upon its truthfulness, and it is *not* offered into evidence as proof of the matter asserted, then by definition the evidence is *not* hearsay. *Id.*

In the instant case, evidence regarding the statements Appellant made on his jail calls to Erskine were not entered for their truth, but rather to show their effect on Erskine—that effect being her decision to talk to the public defender’s office on the Friday before trial to claim, for the first time, that she had felt threatened by Cruz, and then to avoid testifying about the incident by claiming she did not remember anything about that night. Thus, as determined by the trial court, the evidence was not hearsay, was relevant and probative, and was properly admitted. *See* 29 AM. JUR. 2D *Evidence* § 660 (2026) (“[A]n out-of-court statement is not hearsay when offered to prove its effect *on a listener's mind* or to show why the listener subsequently acted as the listener did.” (emphasis added)); *see State v. White*, 446 S.C. 276, 290–91, 919 S.E.2d 37, 45 (Ct. App. 2025) (holding text messages on defendant's cell phone revealing drug transactions conducted years before defendant was convicted were not out-of-court statements that were offered for the truth of the matter asserted, and thus did not constitute inadmissible hearsay evidence; as to statements of third parties within texts, the State did not offer them for the truth of the matter asserted but rather for effect that statements had on defendant, giving context to his responsive texts); *State v. White*, 425 S.C. 304, 310, 821 S.E.2d 523, 527 (Ct. App. 2018) (“We

find the statement was not introduced to prove the truth of the matter asserted, i.e.,] ... [the victim] actually had a gun and knife on his moped. Instead, [the defendant] offered the statement to show *he believed* [the victim] had weapons on his moped.”); *id.* at 310 n.2, 821 S.E.2d at 527 n.2 (noting that other jurisdictions “have similarly held statements were not hearsay when they were offered to show the effect of the statement *on the listener's state of mind* when the listener's state of mind was relevant to the case” (emphasis added)); *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 111, 525 S.E.2d 514, 518 (2000) (finding statements made regarding unrelated crimes not hearsay where “officers were explaining their actions in pursuing the defendants and the statements were not offered for their truth”); *State v. Johnson*, 318 S.C. 194, 197, 456 S.E.2d 442, 444 (Ct. App. 1995) (ruling testimony that defendant was in a “high drug traffic area” was not hearsay because it was introduced as “background information” about the investigation).

### **3. Not Hearsay – Admissions of a Party-Opponent**

Even if this Court concludes the statements were offered for the truth of the matter asserted, they still were not hearsay and were properly admitted under the rules. Indeed, all parts of Appellant’s statements were admissible as admissions of a party-opponent under Rule 801(d)(2)(A), SCRE; *State v. Beck*, 342 S.C. 129, 134, 536 S.E.2d 679, 682 (2000) (“As a general rule, statements or declarations made by one accused of a crime are admissible against him.”). These admissions are the very statements he now complains were improperly admitted because they “portray Appellant in a prejudicial way in front of the jury.” (Brief of Appellant, p.19). This was a portrayal of Appellant’s own making; therefore, his admissions were properly admitted in the discretion of the trial court.

#### 4. Relevant and Probative – Rules 402 & 403

A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. *Adams*, 354 S.C. at 378, 580 S.E.2d at 794. The appellate courts review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403, SCRE, pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 35, 538 S.E.2d 248, 256 (2000); *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE; *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 127, 551 S.E.2d 240, 247 (2001). Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Rule 401, SCRE; *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; *Saltz* 346 S.C. at 127, 551 S.E.2d at 247; *State v. Cooley*, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000). "To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence." *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis." *Id.* at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229. "If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal." *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). Our supreme court has

explained that when balancing the danger of unfair prejudice against the probative value of evidence, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 27-28 (2014).

Considering the record in this case, the trial court did not err in determining the probative value of admitting the jail calls was *not* substantially outweighed by the prejudicial effect of admitting the evidence. As explained by the solicitor at trial, the statements Appellant made in the jail calls were probative of his consciousness of guilt, his intent, malice, and Erskine's bias—which became critically important where she suddenly claimed a lack of memory about the incident. Appellant also advanced the theory that he was acting in defense of Erskine, thus further challenging his criminal intent and rendering the jail calls even more probative.

Undoubtedly, the challenged evidence was prejudicial, as most evidence introduced by the prosecution in an attempted murder case rightfully would be. “Unfair prejudice, however, does not include damage that occurs to a defendant's case because of the ‘legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest decision on an improper basis.’” *United States v. Guerrero-Cortez*, 110 F.3d 647, 652 (8th Cir. 1997); see also *Lee*, 399 S.C. at 527, 732 S.E.2d at 228. Here, the trial court aptly recognized these issues were all central in the case. Consequently, the trial court did not err in finding the probative value of the jail calls was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Whatever prejudicial effect the evidence may have had was outweighed by its probative value, since it helped to prove intent, motive, consciousness of guilt, and possible witness bias.

#### **E. Harmless Error**

Appellate courts will generally not set aside a judgment based on insubstantial errors not affecting the result. *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991). Improper

admission of hearsay testimony constitutes reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice. *Jennings*, 394 S.C. at 478–79, 716 S.E.2d at 93–94; *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 67, 697 S.E.2d 615, 618 (Ct. App.2010). Only errors so substantial that they result in a verdict which would not otherwise have been rendered require reversal. *State v. Jolly*, 304 S.C. 34, 39, 402 S.E.2d 895, 898 (Ct. App. 1991). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447-48, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). “No definite rule of law governs [a finding of harmless error]; rather the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.” *Id.* at 447-48, 710 S.E.2d at 60 (quoting *State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 193-94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) ). A defendant seeking reversal based on error in admission of evidence has the burden of showing that evidence was prejudicial. *State v. McElveen*, 280 S.C. 325, 327, 313 S.E.2d 298, 299 (1984).

Here, any error in the admission of the recorded jail calls with Erskine was harmless in view of the overwhelming evidence presented of guilt, such that it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. Considering: (1) Cruz’s detailed testimony, which included an embarrassing admission that Erskine was at his apartment because he was paying her for sex, and his clear explanation that he only locked the door because Appellant was at the door with a gun; (2) Erskine’s frantic 911 call asking for help because Appellant had shot her; (3) Masskooni identifying Appellant from the apartment security videos as being present at the time of the shooting; (4) Erskine generally corroborating Cruz’s testimony while also trying to protect Appellant by claiming she did not remember the incident; (5) corroborating testimony from witness Drummond and victim Zhang; (6) Erskine’s prior inconsistent statements on Cushman’s body-worn camera which further corroborated Cruz’s testimony; (7) Appellant telling Erskine’s

mother Sheila on the phone that he was sorry he had shot Erskine; and (8) forensic evidence from the scene showing six shots had been fired from a single gun; the additional information conveyed in the jail calls was mere icing on the cake and did not reasonably affect the result at trial. Indeed, the remaining evidence is overwhelming where the jury found Cruz credible, as they clearly did. If the jurors did not believe Cruz, they would not have been able to convict under the law charged by the trial court, regardless of the connection to Erskine and the consciousness of guilt shown in the jail calls. Thus, the jail calls were inconsequential to the ultimate decision. For all of these reasons, the State submits this argument should be denied and dismissed, and Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial court properly admitted a video recording of Sergeant Cushman's body-worn camera interview of victim Olivia Erskine at the hospital as extrinsic evidence of her prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613(b), SCRE, because Erskine effectively denied making the prior inconsistent statement after being advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made. In any event, any possible error in admitting the statement was harmless because, beyond a reasonable doubt, it did not contribute to the jury's verdict given the overwhelming evidence of guilt.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in admitting Erskine's prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613(b), SCRE, because at trial, the State failed to first advise her of the substance of the statement. He contends the State failed to lay the proper foundation for admission by not advising Erskine about the *specific* substance of the prior statements she made to Cushman. Appellant argues the State should have asked Erskine specific questions about her prior statement so she would be given the opportunity to unequivocally admit to making the statement, and *then* could have introduced the video if she did not admit and instead denied making it, or

failed to recall making the specific statement about which she was questioned. (Brief of Appellant, p.23-p.28). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is entirely without merit.

### **Law / Discussion**

The trial court properly admitted the video-recording of Officer Cushman's body-worn camera interview of Erskine at the hospital as extrinsic evidence of her prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613(b), SCRE because Erskine effectively denied making the prior inconsistent statement after being repeatedly advised of the substance of the statement, the time and place it was allegedly made, and the person to whom it was made. The foundational requirements proposed by Appellant are overly technical, particularly where the *specific substance* of the inconsistency was an *omission* from the prior statement. Not only did the solicitor point out this omission on redirect, everyone in the courtroom was aware of the general substance of the prior statement—what happened during the incident. The argument should be rejected and Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

On redirect examination, Erskine repeated her earlier claim that she *did not remember: (1) talking to law enforcement, (2) at the hospital, (3) about the incident*. She then seemingly admitted that *the first time she indicated she was not allowed to leave the apartment because of Cruz's aggressive threats* was the prior Friday, when talking to defense's investigator, but only after also agreeing she did not remember talking to law enforcement at the hospital. (R.p.117, lines 2-15). Thus, she was specifically given the opportunity to unequivocally admit this critical omission from the prior statement, but she waffled in her response. Under these circumstances, the trial court acted well within its broad discretion in admitting Erskine's prior inconsistent statement under Rule 613(b), SCRE.

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